Genetics of endometriosis: current status and prospects

Paola Vigano¹, Edgardo Somigliana², Michele Vignali³, Mauro Busacca³, Anna Maria Di Blasio¹

¹Molecular Biology Laboratory, Istituto Auxologico Italiano, Milano, ²Dept of Obstetrics, Gynaecology and Neonatology, "Fondazione Policlinico-Mangiagalli-Regina Elena" Hospital, Milano, ²Dept of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Clinica "Macedonio Melloni" and University of Milano, Milano, Italy

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1 Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Genetic epidemiology of endometriosis
- 4. Genetic study designs in identifying variants underlying complex traits and common diseases
 - 4.1. Linkage analysis
 - 4.2. Candidate gene approach
- 5. What has been found so far in endometriosis?
 - 5.1. Challenges to genetic studies in endometriosis
 - 5.2. the international endogene linkage study
 - 5.3. Association studies
- 6. The future of complex disease genetics
 - 6.1. The genome-wide association approach
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Family and twin studies have shown that heritability accounts for endometriosis development to an extent similar to other complex genetic diseases. Both linkage analysis and association studies have been performed to identify genetic determinants for the disease. Results from the linkage scan of 1,176 families collected thanks to a joint effort between an Australian and a UK group supported significant linkage to a novel susceptibility locus on chromosome 10q26. Although gene variants with effects on the disease predisposition have been proposed to exist and several candidates have been put forward, their effects have not been or are yet to be confirmed. The main categories of candidate genes studied have been those involved in detoxification processes, sex steroid biosynthesis and action, immune system regulation. Genetic studies on endometriosis face numerous challenges as the disease has several manifestations and different forms. Moreover, strong gene-environmental interactions might definitively influence approaches to identify genetic variants involved. Genome-wide association studies that survey most of the genome for causal genetic variants provide the potential for future progress.

2. INTRODUCTION

Advances in genetics and molecular biology, such as the completion of the human genome sequence (1, 2), the deposition of millions of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) into public databases (3) and the rapid improvements in SNP genotyping technology, have accompanied the development of studies in which SNPs across the genome are genotyped to survey the most common genetic variation for a role in disease or to identify the heritable quantitative traits that are risk factors for disease. Many common diseases do actually cluster in families in patterns that demonstrate that genetics plays a role in determining susceptibility. For example, the identical twin of a patient with type 1 diabetes will also get type 1 diabetes 30-50% of the time; dizygotic twins who share a common environment but only 50% of their genes are less concordant (4, 5). A sibling of a patient affected by type 1 diabetes has a 15 times higher risk to get diabetes than an unrelated individual (6).

The increased risk to relatives (λ) is one measure of the influence of genetics; another measure of the contribution of inherited factors is termed heritability (h^2) ,

which indicates the fraction of the population variation that can be explained by genetic factors working together in an additive fashion. Heritability can be evaluated either from family studies or twin studies, and is often between 30 and 50% for common diseases such as diabetes (4), or quantitative traits such as body mass index or blood pressure (7, 8). Thus, multiple genetic factors and nongenetic factors combine to influence the risk of common diseases and quantitative traits. Because multiple genetic and nongenetic factors interact to affect phenotype, these diseases and traits are termed complex genetic traits in contrast to phenotypes that are controlled by single genes called monogenic or Mendelian traits. The propensity of genetic background to modify the phenotypic expression of most if not all Mendelian traits suggests that few if any traits are truly monogenic and that instead most are genetically complex (5). Genes that contribute to complex traits pose special challenges that make gene discovery more difficult, including locus heterogeneity, epistasis, low penetrance, variable expressivity and pleiotropy, and limited statistical power.

Endometriosis, a common, benign, oestrogendependent, chronic gynaecological disorder associated with pelvic pain and infertility has a prevalence that approaches 6–10% in the general female population; in women with pain, infertility, or both, the frequency is 35–50%. (9-10). Evidence from genetic epidemiology of endometriosis strongly suggests that the disease is inherited as a complex genetic trait in which the phenotype results from interactions among allelic variants in several susceptibility genes, and from interactions between those genes and environmental factors (11). It has been estimated that the value of λ_S (the risk of the sister of an affected woman having endometriosis compared with the risk in the general population) probably lies between 2 and 9 for all disease forms, although λ_S may be as high as 15 in women with severe endometriosis (11). However, genetic determinants of this disease and the relative influence of genetic versus environmental factors are still to be unravel. Here we provide an overview of the genetics of endometriosis and discuss how the genetic factors that underlie the disease development might be successfully identified in the future. Many challenges face researchers trying to identify genetic variants that are associated with this disease, and we examine different approaches that can be taken to overcome them, along with a discussion of the candidate genes that have been investigated so far.

3. GENETIC EPIDEMIOLOGY OF ENDOMETRIOSIS

Twin studies have found that approximately 51% of the variance of the latent liability to the disease may be attributable to genetic influences. Utilizing the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council Twin Register, Treloar et al. studied 3298 monozygotic (MZ) and dizygotic (DZ) twin pairs and of the twins surveyed, 215 self-reported that they were affected giving a prevalence rate of 0.07 among responders (12). Higher correlations were found for women with surgically confirmed disease which provides support for the search for genes that affect endometriosis in humans.

There is also evidence that endometriosis clusters in some families. In 1980, Simpson and coworkers (13) reported for the first time that women with an affected sib or parent were more likely to have the disease and a more severe form. Female siblings of probands with endometriosis had a 5.9% incidence of the disease while only 1% of the patients' husband's first-degree relatives were affected. Similar findings were observed in studies conducted in UK and Norway (14, 15). Subsequently, evidence of the genetic basis of endometriosis has emerged from the analysis of large, clinical databases in Australia, Iceland, and Utah. Stefansson et al. have compared 750 Icelandic women with endometriosis to matched controls (16). The former were descendent from a smaller number of ancestors with risk ratios for sisters and cousins of 5.20 and 1.56, respectively. The mean kinship coefficient (KC) for the affected women was significantly higher than that for 1000 sets of matched controls, and this remained significant even when the contribution from first-degree relatives was excluded. Higher recurrent risks have been reported among Mormons in the US state of Utah (17). Of 419 women with endometriosis, 326 had at least one sister affected and 11.2% of the probands' mothers has a surgical diagnosis. Affected relatives were more often of maternal (10.3%) than paternal (5.6%) lineage (17). However, such studies can only provide a suggestion for the genetic influence because clustering can be due to both genetic factors and a shared family environment.

4. GENETIC STUDY DESIGNS IN IDENTIFYING VARIANTS UNDERLYING COMPLEX TRAITS AND COMMON DISEASES

In Mendelian traits and diseases, the first step in gene discovery involves mapping the gene precisely and unambiguously to a small genetic interval. Given the strong relation between genotype and phenotype, single recombinants are sufficient to define minimal intervals of less than 1 cM. Consequently, the gene involved in the affected individuals is usually identified through the analysis of the coding sequence variants in a small number of candidate genes. These concepts do not apply to genetically complex traits. For most common diseases and complex traits, the underlying genetic variations remains unknown (5). In theory, the relevant genetic variation could be rare with allele frequencies under 1% in the population, as is true for most single-gene disorders, or more common with allele frequencies above 1% in the population. The frequency of the alleles for complex traits is important to understand, because it will guide approaches to find the causal genetic variants. Theoretical and empirical considerations suggest that for common diseases and complex traits, some of the causal genetic variants may be common (18-20). There are at least three arguments in favour of a role for common variation in complex traits (5):

• by definition, causal alleles for monogenic disorders are highly penetrant and often lead to severe phenotypes. Accordingly, these alleles often cause severe changes in protein function, and the spectrum of disease alleles usually includes not only missense mutations but also nonsense mutations, severe splicing mutations and insertion or

deletion mutations, which can induce frameshifts. Clearly, these mutations are often subject to negative selection. By contrast, the alleles that underlie complex traits have more subtle effects on disease risk and might be more likely to include non-coding regulatory variants with a modest impact on expression. In addition, given the modest effects of these alleles on disease risk and the late-onset of many common diseases, the causal alleles are far less likely to be subject to strong negative selection and might therefore comprise different types of variants to those that underlie Mendelian disorders. Thus, for complex traits, the impact of selective pressure is diluted for the variants;

- most single-gene diseases are rare, whereas most polygenic diseases are common; based on the demographic history of the human population, it can be predicted that for common diseases and quantitative traits, some of the causal genetic variation should have a high frequency in the population (20);
- empirical evidence suggests that common variants do contribute to the risk of common diseases (21).

These concepts are valid also for endometriosis and in trying to identify genes implicated in the etiology, pathophysiology, and progression of the disease, similarly to what has been done for other pathologies, two major approaches have been used to map genetic variants that influences the disease risk: linkage analysis and the candidate gene approach.

4.1. Linkage analysis

Linkage analysis is the method traditionally used to identify disease genes, and has been very successful for mapping genes that underlie monogenic 'Mendelian' diseases (2). For linkage analysis to succeed, markers that flank the disease gene must segregate with the disease in families. Variants that cause monogenic disorders are often rare so each segregating disease allele will be found in the same 10-20 cM chromosomal background within each family. Furthermore, because Mendelian diseases are caused by highly penetrant variants, markers within 10-20 cM of the disease-causing alleles will co-segregate with disease status. This approach has also been used for many common diseases and quantitative traits and in specific cases, genomic regions that show significant linkage to the disease have been identified, leading to the discovery of gene variants contributing susceptibility to several complex diseases (22-25). However, for most common diseases, the genes discovered usually explain only a small fraction of the overall hereditability of the disease. Various factors may explained this incomplete success (2):

- the inability of the standard set of microsatellite markers to extract complete information;
- limit heritability of most complex traits;
- the inaccurate definition of the disease phenotypes;
- and limited powered study designs.

However, even if statistically significant evidence of linkage is obtained, extensive candidate gene studies are still required to progress from a broad region of linkage — usually exceeding 10 cM (**10 million bases) — to the

causal gene or genes within this region (2). So, results from small-scale sib-pair investigations should be interpreted with caution.

4.2. Candidate gene approach

Candidate-gene studies have been the only practical alternative to linkage analysis. In these hypothesis-based studies, genes are selected for further study, either by their location in a region of linkage, or on the basis of other evidence that they might affect disease risk (2). Association studies using common allelic variants are cheaper and simpler than the complete resequencing of candidate genes, and have been proposed as a tool for identifying the common variants that underlie complex traits (2, 5, 26). These studies compare the frequency of alleles or genotypes of a particular variant between disease cases and controls. In any case, candidate-gene studies rely on having predicted the identity of the correct gene or genes, usually on the basis of biological hypotheses or the location of the candidate within a previously determined region of linkage. Even if these hypotheses are broad, they will, at best, identify only a fraction of genetic risk factors, even for diseases in which the pathophysiology is relatively well understood. When the fundamental physiological defects of a disease are unknown, the candidate-gene approach will clearly be inadequate to fully explain the genetic basis of the disease. Moreover, they are often misinterpreted and therefore appear to be poorly reproducible. Based on the results of 55 meta-analyses of genetic associations, a recent report has established that only 16% of them were subsequently replicated with formal statistical significance (26). A different magnitude of effect is often seen in large versus smaller studies or differences in first versus subsequent results. Typically, large studies suggest weak associations or no associations at all while smaller studies or first research usually propose strong associations. Thus, a common phenomenon in association studies is the "winner's curse" in which the first report overestimates the genetic effect size (26). The possible causes of this inconsistency are false-positive reports, falsenegative studies that incorrectly fail to replicate a valid association, or true heterogeneity between studies. Assessment of the strength of heterogeneity or bias is mandatory in these studies. Genuine heterogeneity could be due to variation in frequency of alleles, variable effects of linkage disequilibrium for other genetic markers, variable disease expression or differential disease susceptibility across the studied populations. In the presence of large biological and environmental variability, genetic effects can differ in different populations or even among generations within a population. Thus, in case of genuine genetic heterogeneity, since most associations refer to small odds ratios, single studies with hundreds participants are greatly underpowered. Several thousands of patients are necessary to address these genetic risk factors and more than 10000 individuals need to be studied for adequate powered analysis. Among sources of biases, publication bias could be prominent. Since investigators, reviewers and editors tend to submit or accept manuscripts for publication based in the direction of strength of the study findings results of smaller and negative studies are difficult to locate. Misclassification bias from errors in case-control

assignment or genotyping errors should also be considered. Confounding by ethnicity or other factors can also cause bias. Finally, claims of significance should be interpreted cautiously since results of statistical test might indicate chance alone (26).

5. WHAT HAS BEEN FOUND SO FAR IN ENDOMETRIOSIS?

5.1. Challenges to genetic studies in endometriosis

In considering to perform a genetic study on endometriosis, some aspects of the disease need to be beard in mind:

- Endometriosis is a complex pathology with multiple manifestations and different forms (27). According to some experts, different histogeneses are responsible for the different forms of the disease and more than one disease entity exists. Indeed, while most authors agree that the genesis of peritoneal lesions has to be attributed to the implantation of endometrial tissue regurgitated through the fallopian tubes during menstruation, endometriotic ovarian cysts and the endometriosis of rectovaginal septum might have different pathogeneses. If this is the case, the phenotypic definitions should be extremely precise to limit genetic heterogeneity.
- Selection of proper controls is particularly critical. For these kind of studies, it would be advantageous to find a control group that is representative of the source population of cases in order to eliminate potential confounding factors such as referral or health care seeking pattern and socioeconomic status (28). Controls should have had the same opportunity to develop the disease of interest, and they would have had the same opportunity as cases to have been included in the study. Unfortunately, definite diagnosis of endometriosis relies on surgery and this may introduce important selection biases for both cases and controls.
- Epidemiological analyses have identified numerous factors that are thought to be associated with endometriosis such as age, smoking, reproductive characteristics, body mass index and dioxin exposure (10). The possibility of strong gene-environmental interactions should definitively influence the approaches that are used to identify genetic variants involved and the study size.

5.2. The International Endogene Linkage Study

Two independent groups, the Australian Genes Behind Endometriosis Study and the United Kingdombased, International Oxford Endometriosis Gene (OXEGENE) Study have recruited >1,000 families, mainly affected sister pair families, with the aim to identify genomic regions likely to harbour endometriosis susceptibility loci (29). In 2005, they have reported results from this linkage scan in 1,176 families (931 from the Australian group and 245 from the UK group), each with at least two members with surgically diagnosed disease. In total, 4,985 individuals were genotyped, including 2,709 women with endometriosis. The combined resource was aimed to have a 80% power to detect loci of modest effect, which is consistent with current expectations for most

complex diseases. Analysis of the combined set of families identified significant linkage to a novel susceptibility locus on chromosome 10q26 [Maximum LOD Score=3.09), p=0.047] and suggestive linkage on chromosome 20p13 (MLS=2.09). Minor peaks (with MLS > 1.0) were also found on chromosomes 2, 6, 7, 8, 12, 14, 15, and 17. This is actually the first report of linkage to a major locus for endometriosis and these findings might favour the discovery of novel positional genetic variants that influence the risk of the disease. In this context, it has to be observed that chromosome 10q had already been implicated in the disease development toward a more severe and invasive form since in mice harbouring an oncogenic allele of *K-ras* resulting in the development of benign lesions reminiscent of endometriosis, a conditional deletion of PTEN which is located on 10q23.3, caused the progression toward the ovarian tumor (30). Although outside the reported interval, PTEN gene falls within the 99.9% CI. On the other hand, it has also to be considered that:

- although this study had sufficient power to detect linkage to loci with modest effect sizes, only one peak achieved significance. This would suggest substantial genetic heterogeneity and/or that more than one disease entity exists (27);
- stratification by subphenotypes such as more severe disease, pelvic pain, fertility status did not result in more significant effects. Except for families with two or more affected members reporting pelvic pain, no subphenotype stratum contributed more to the chromosome 10 peak, and no particular subanalysis contributed more to the chromosome 20 peak. Replication of these findings and/or candidate gene studies to progress from these regions of linkage to the causal genes would represent the next step for this approach.

5.3. Association studies

Using the candidate gene study approach described above, many gene variants have been investigated for putative associations with endometriosis. The main categories of candidate genes studied have been those that are involved in detoxification processes, sex steroid biosynthesis and their receptors, immune system-regulation. An extended list of candidate genes that have been investigated in endometriosis is given in Table 1.

As mentioned above and similarly to what had happened for other complex trait diseases, many initially positive findings have not been replicated. Guo has performed meta-analyses of the association studies performed so far evaluating glutathione S-transferase M1/T1 gene polymorphisms (31). No evidence of association between the GSTM1 null genotype and endometriosis has been found while the risk associated with the GSTT1 null genotype was 29% higher than the other genotypes (pooled OR=1.29, 95% CI=1.01-1.65). A metaanalysis of 12 association studies on 5 genes (CYP17, CYP19. AR. PR and ER) has been performed for genetic polymorphisms involving steroid receptors steroidogenesis enzymes and reported positive findings were not supported by the data (32). Furthermore, in general, most of the reported associations for variants of immunoregulatory genes or genes involved in growth, angiogenesis and detoxification processes have no strong evidence of replication. Lack of consistency is likely explained by:

- publication bias (31, 32);
- small sample sizes;
- many reported associations are often found in subgroups and usually without an a priori hypothesis about which polymorphism is advantageous and what the biological basis of this might be. Such results are therefore probably chance findings, and consequently most genetic associations fail to be replicated in independent studies (31, 32);
- failure to control for known risk factors. Because many genetic and non-genetic factors affect endometriosis, it is crucial to gather data on and statistically control for the influence of as many of these factors as possible;
- the modest effects of the causal variants on disease risk and the consequent false-negative studies. In several cases, the causal variant was associated with a 10-50% increased risk of disease, meaning that sample sizes in the thousands are required to achieve even a nominally significant p value < 0.05. Because most association studies had used samples of hundreds of individuals, the lack of consistency is not surprising.

6. THE FUTURE OF COMPLEX DISEASE GENETICS

There are several possible reasons why most of the studies described above have been inconclusive: the probable involvement of numerous genes with modest effects and the implementation of small-scale studies, are features that will produce many chance findings. Bearing these factors in mind, we hope will help future studies to provide more conclusive results.

In the future, the most comprehensive approach towards understanding complex disease would be complete genome resequencing in a large population of cases and controls. This approach would not be limited by the choice of candidate genes, it would cover the complete spectrum of coding and non-coding variants. Unfortunately, over the past few years, sequencing technologies have remained fundamentally unchanged, and it is the automation and refinement of existing methods that has led to a reduction in cost (2). Current costs are still higher than would be required for affordable whole-genome sequencing. Therefore, waiting for whole-genome sequencing to become a reality, the genome-wide association approach is acquiring great promise.

6.1. The genome-wide association approach

A genome-wide association approach is defined as an association study that surveys most of the genome for causal genetic variants. These studies will be greatly facilitated by the recognition of that many common variants are strongly correlated (in linkage disequilibrium), and hence redundant (5), meaning that a few hundred thousand SNPs will suffice to survey the approximately ten million variants with frequency 5% or greater. Because no

assumptions are made about the genomic location of the causal variants, this approach could exploit the strengths of association studies without having to guess the identity of the causal genes. Thus, genome-wide association studies have the advantage that they do not depend on biologically plausible candidate genes or knowledge of specific variants (2). However, several objectives need to be met before genome-wide association studies become truly practical. First, a set of SNPs must be chosen that comprehensively captures the common variation across the genome. Methods for selecting such SNPs, and for using them efficiently for tests of association, are being developed. At present, costs are very high and not affordable in most laboratories. Because of this high cost, there is pressure to limit the sample size, with a consequent reduction in power. However, because variants that contribute to complex traits are likely to have modest effects, large sample sizes are crucial and since large number of hypotheses are tested, pvalues must be corrected for multiple-hypothesis testing. On the basis of initial successes in candidate-gene association studies that represent only a tiny fraction of the genome, more comprehensive genome-wide association studies should greatly advance our understanding of the genetic basis of common diseases and complex traits.

7. REFERENCES

- 1. International human genome sequencing consortium. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. *Nature* 409, 860–921 (2001)
- 2. J. N. Hirschhorn and M.J. Daly: Genome-wide association studies for common diseases and complex traits. *Nat Rev Gen* 6, 95-108 (2005)
- 3. R. Sachidanandam, D. Weissman, S.C. Schmidt, J.M. Kakol, L.D. Stein, G. Marth, S. Sherry, J.C. Mullikin, B.J. Mortimore, D.L. Willey, S.E. Hunt, C.G. Cole, .C. Coggill, C.M. Rice, Z. Ning, J. Rogers, D.R. Bentley, P.Y. Kwok, E.R. Mardis, R.T. Yeh, B. Schultz, L. Cook, R. Davenport, M. Dante, L. Fulton, L. Hillier, R.H. Waterston, J. D. McPherson, B. Gilman, S. Schaffner, W.J. Van Etten, D. Reich, J. Higgins, M.J. Daly, B. Blumenstiel, J. Baldwin, N. Stange-Thomann, M.C. Zody, L. Linton, E.S. Lander and D. Altshuler; International SNP Map Working Group: A map of human genome sequence variation containing 1.42 million single nucleotide polymorphisms. *Nature* 409, 928–933 (2001)
- 4. J.N. Hirschhorn: Genetic epidemiology of type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes* 4:87–100 (2003)
- 5. J.N. Hirschhorn: Genetic Approaches to Studying Common Diseases and Complex Traits. *Ped Res* 5, 74R-77R (2005)
- 6. R:S: Spielman, L. Baker and C.M. Zmijewski: Gene dosage and susceptibility to insulin-dependent diabetes. *Ann Hum Genet* 44, 135–150 (1980)
- 7. L.D. Atwood, N.L.Heard-Costa, L.A. Cupples, C.E. Jaquish, P.W. Wilson and R.B. D'Agostino: Genomewide linkage analysis of body mass index across 28 years of the Framingham Heart Study. *Am J Hum Genet* 71, 1044–1050 (2002)
- 8. D. Levy, A.L. DeStefano, M.G. Larson, C.J. O'Donnell, R.P. Lifton, H. Gavras, L.A. Cupples and R.H. Myers: Evidence for a gene influencing blood pressure on chromosome 17. *Hypertension* 36, 477-483 (2000)

- 9. L.C. Giudice and L.C Kao: Endometriosis. *Lancet* 364, 1789-1799 (2004)
- 10. P. Vigano, F. Parazzini, E. Somigliana and P. Vercellini: Endometriosis: epidemiology and aetiological factors. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* 18, 177-200 (2004)
- 11. _D.H. Barlow and S. Kennedy: Endometriosis: New Genetic Approaches and Therapy. *Ann Rev Med*, 56: 345-356 (2005)
- 12. S.A Treloar, D.T. O'Connor, V.M. O'Connor and N.G. Martin: Genetic influences on endometriosis in an Australian twin sample. *Fertil Steril* 71, 701–710 (1999)
- 13. J.L. Simpson, S. Elias, L.R. Malinak and V.C.Jr. Buttram: Heritable aspects of endometriosis. I. Genetic studies. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 137, 327-331 (1980)
- 14. D. Coxhead and E.J. Thomas: Familiar inheritance of endometriosis in a British population. A case control study. *J Obstet Gynecol* 13, 42-44 (1993)
- 15. M.H. Moen and P. Magnus: The familial risk of endometriosis. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 72, 560-564 (1993)
- 16. H. Stefansson, R.T Geirsson, V. Steinthorsdottir, H. Jonsson, A. Manolescu, A. Kong, G. Ingadottir, J. Gulcher and K. Stefansson: Genetic factors contribute to the risk of developing endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 17, 555-559 (2002) 17. F. Bischoff and J.L. Simpson: Genetics of endometriosis: heritability and candidate genes. *Best Pract*
- Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 18, 219-232 (2004) 18. E.S. Lander and N.J. Schork: Genetic dissection of complex traits. *Science* 265, 2037–2048 (1994)
- 19. A Chakravarti: Population genetics—making sense out of sequence. *Nat Genet* 21, 56–60 (1999)
- 20. D.E. Reich and E.S. Lander: On the allelic spectrum of human disease. *Trends Genet* 17, 502–510 (2001)
- 21. K.E. Lohmueller, C.L. Pearce, M. Pike, E.S. Lander, J.N. Hirschhorn: Meta-analysis of genetic association studies supports a contribution of common variants to susceptibility to common disease. *Nat Genet* 33, 177–182 (2003)
- 22. J.P. Hugot, M. Chamaillard, H. Zouali, S. Lesage, J.P. Cezard, J. Belaiche, S. Almer, C. Tysk, C.A. O'Morain, M. Gassull, V. Binder, Y. Finkel, A. Cortot, R. Modigliani, P. Laurent-Puig, C. Gower-Rousseau, J. Macry, J.F. Colombel, M. Sahbatou and G. Thomas: Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. *Nature* 411, 599–603 (2001)
- 23. H. Stefansson, J. Sarginson, A. Kong, P. Yates, V. Steinthorsdottir, E. Gudfinnsson, S. Gunnarsdottir, N. Walker, H. Petursson, C. Crombie, A. Ingason, J.R. Gulcher, K. Stefansson and D. St Clair D: Association of neuregulin 1 with schizophrenia confirmed in a Scottish population. *Am J Hum Genet* 72, 83-87 (2003)
- 24. L. Nistico, R. Buzzetti, L.E. Pritchard, B. Van der Auwera, C. Giovannini, E. Bosi, M.T. Larrad, M.S. Rios, C.C. Chow, C.S. Cockram, K. Jacobs, C. Mijovic, S.C. Bain, A.H. Barnett, C.L. Vandewalle, F. Schuit, F.K. Gorus, R. Tosi, P. Pozzilli and J.A. Todd: The CTLA-4 gene region of chromosome 2q33 is linked to, and associated with, type 1 diabetes. Belgian Diabetes Registry. *Hum Mol Genet* 5, 1075-1080(1996)
- 25. M. Stoll, B. Corneliussen, C.M. Costello, G.H. Waetzig, B. Mellgard, W.A. Koch, P. Rosenstiel, M.

- Albrecht, P.J. Croucher, D. Seegert, S. Nikolaus, J. Hampe, T. Lengauer, S. Pierrou, U.R. Foelsch, C.G. Mathew, M. Lagerstrom-Fermer and S Schreiber: Genetic variation in DLG5 is associated with inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature Genet* 36, 476–480 (2004)
- 26. J.P. Ioannidis, T.A. Trikalinos, E.E. Ntzani and D.G. Contopoulos-Ioannidis: Genetic associations in large versus small studies: an empirical assessment. *Lancet* 361, 567-71 (2003)
- 27. M. Vignali, M. Infantino, R. Matrone, I. Chiodo, E. Somigliana, M. Busacca and P Vigano P: Endometriosis: novel etiopathogenetic concepts and clinical perspectives. *Fertil Steril* 78, 665-678 (2002)
- 28. K.T. Zondervan, L.R. Cardon and S.H. Kennedy SH: What makes a good case-control study? Design issues for complex traits such as endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 17, 1415-1423 (2002)
- 29. S.A. Treloar, J. Wicks, D.R. Nyholt, G.W. Montgomery, M. Bahlo, V. Smith, G. Dawson, I.J. Mackay, D.E. Weeks, S.T. Bennett, A. Carey, K.R. Ewen-White, D.L. Duffy, D.T. O'Connor, D.H. Barlow, N.G. Martin and S.H. Kennedy: Genomewide Linkage Study in 1,176 Affected Sister Pair Families Identifies a Significant Susceptibility Locus for Endometriosis on Chromosome 10q26. *Am J Hum Genet* 77, 365–376 (2005)
- 30. D.M. Dinulescu, T.A. Ince, B.J. Quade, S.A. Shafer, D. Crowley and T. Jacks: Role of K-ras and Pten in the development of mouse models of endometriosis and endometrioid ovarian cancer. *Nat Med* 11, 63-70 (2005)
- 31. S.W. Guo: Glutathione S-transferases M1/T1 gene polymorphisms and endometriosis: a meta-analysis of genetic association studies. *Mol Hum Reprod* 11, 729-743 (2005)
- 32: S.W. Guo: Association of endometriosis risk and genetic polymorphisms involving sex steroid biosynthesis and their receptors: a meta-analysis. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 61, 90-105 (2006)
- 33. M. Tsuchiya, T. Katoh, H. Motoyama, H. Sasaki, S. Tsugane, T. Ikenoue . Analysis of the AhR, ARNT, and AhRR gene polymorphisms: genetic contribution to endometriosis susceptibility and severity. *Fertil Steril* 84, 454-458 (2005)
- 34. T. Watanabe, I Imoto, Y. Kosugi, Y. Fukuda, J. Mimura, Y. Fujii, K. Isaka, M. Takayama, A. Sato and J. Inazawa. Human arylhydrocarbon receptor repressor (AHRR) gene: genomic structure and analysis of polymorphism in endometriosis. *J Hum Genet* 46, 342-346 (2001)
- 35. D. Lattuada, P Viganò, E. Somigliana, M.P. Odorizzi, M. Vignali and A.M. Di Blasio: Androgen receptor gene cytosine, adenine, and guanine trinucleotide repeats in patients with endometriosis. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 11, 237-240, (2004)
- 36. Y.Y. Hsieh, C.C. Chang, F.J. Tsai, J. Y. Wu, C.H. Tsai and H.D. Tsai: Androgen receptor trinucleotide polymorphism in endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 76:412-3 (2001)
- 37. F. Wieser, R. Wenzl, C. Tempfer, C. Worda, J. Huber and C. Schneeberger: Catechol-O-methyltransferase polymorphism and endometriosis. *J Assist Reprod Genet* 19, 343-358 (2002) 38. A. Huber, C.C.Keck, L.A. Hefler, C. Schneeberger, J.C. Huber, E.K. Bentz, C.B. Tempfer: Ten estrogen-related polymorphisms and endometriosis: a study of multiple gene-gene interactions. *Obstet Gynecol* 106, 1025-1031, (2005)
- 39. S.H. Juo, T.N. Wang, J.N. Lee, M.T. Wu, C.Y. Long and E.M. Tsai: CYP17, CYP1A1 and COMT

- polymorphisms and the risk of adenomyosis and endometriosis in Taiwanese women. *Hum Reprod* 21, 1498-2502 (2006)
- 40 P. Vigano, D. Lattuada, E. Somigliana, A. Abbiati, M. Candiani and A.M. Di Blasio: Variants of the CTLA4 gene that segregate with autoimmune diseases are not associated with endometriosis. *Mol Hum Reprod* 11, 745-749 (2005)
- 41. N. Kado, J. Kitawaki, H. Obayashi, H. Ishihara, H. Koshiba, I. Kusuki, K. Tsukamoto, G. Hasegawa, N. Nakamura, T. Yoshikawa and H. Honjo: Association of the CYP17 gene and CYP19 gene polymorphisms with risk of endometriosis in Japanese women. *Hum Reprod* 17, 897-902 (2002)
- 42. T. Asghar, S. Yoshida, S. Nakago, M. Morizane, N. Ohara, S. Motoyama, S. Kennedy, D. Barlow and T. Maruo: Lack of association between endometriosis and the CYP17 MspA1 polymorphism in UK and Japanese populations. *Gynecol Endocrinol* 20, 59-63 (2005)
- 43. K.A Babu, N.G. Reddy, M. Deendayal, S. Kennedy, S. Shivaji: GSTM1, GSTT1 and CYP1A1 detoxification gene polymorphisms and their relationship with advanced stages of endometriosis in South Indian women. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 15, 167-172 (2005)
- 44. D.A. Arvanitis, G.E. Koumantakis, A.G. Goumenou, I.M. Matalliotakis, E.E. Koumantakis. D.A. Spandidos: CYP1A1, CYP19, and GSTM1 polymorphisms increase the risk of endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 79, Suppl 1:702-709 (2003)
- 45. R.M. Hadfield, S. Manek, D.E. Weeks, H.J. Mardon, D.H. Barlow and S.H. Kennedy OXEGENE Collaborative Group: Linkage and association studies of the relationship between endometriosis and enes encoding the detoxification enzymes GSTM1, GSTT1 and CYP1A1. *Mol Hum Reprod* 7, 1073-1078 (2001)
- 46. Z. Wang, S. Yoshida, K. Negoro, S. Kennedy, D. Barlow and T. Maruo: Polymorphisms in the estrogen receptor beta gene but not estrogen receptor alpha gene affect the risk of developing endometriosis in a Japanese population. *Fertil Steril* 81, 1650-1656 (2004)
- 47. J. Kitawaki, H. Obayashi, H. Ishihara, H. Koshiba, I. Kusuki, N. Kado N, K. Tsukamoto, G. Hasegawa, N. Nakamura and H. Honjo: Oestrogen receptor-alpha gene polymorphism is associated with endometriosis, adenomyosis and leiomyomata. *Hum Reprod* 16, 51-55 (2001)
- 48. I. Georgiou, M. Syrrou, I. Bouba, N. Dalkalitsis, M. Paschopoulos, I. Navrozoglou and D. Lolis D: Association of estrogen receptor gene polymorphisms with endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 72, 164-166 (1999)
- 49. S. Luisi, L. Galleri, F. Marini, G. Ambrosini, M.L. Brandi, F. Petraglia: Estrogen receptor gene polymorphisms are associated with recurrence of endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 85, 764-766 (2006)
- 50. M. Seko, H. Takeuchi, K. Kinoshita and A. Tokita: Association of bone mineral density with vitamin D and estrogen receptor gene polymorphisms during GnRH agonist treatment.
- J Obstet Gynaecol Res 30, 130-135 (2004) 51. Y.Y. Hsieh, Y.K. Wang, C.C. Chang and C.S. Lin: Estrogen receptor {alpha}-351 XbaI*G and -397 PvuII*C-related genotypes and alleles are associated with higher

- susceptibilities of endometriosis and leiomyoma. *Mol Hum Reprod* Nov 22, (2006)
- 52. Y.Y. Hsieh, C.C. Chang, F.J. Tsai, C.C. Lin and C.H. Tsai: Estrogen receptor alpha dinucleotide repeat and cytochrome P450c17alpha gene polymorphisms are associated with susceptibility to endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 83, 567-572 (2005) 53. H. Stefansson, A. Einarsdottir, R.T. Geirsson, K. Jonsdottir, G. Sverrisdottir, V.G. Gudnadottir, S. Gunnarsdottir, A. Manolescu, J. Gulcher and K. Stefansson. Endometriosis is not associated with or linked to the GALT gene. *Fertil Steril* 76, 1019-1022 (2001)
- 54. S.J. Morland, X. Jiang, A. Hitchcock, E.J. Thomas and I.G. Campbell: Mutation of galactose-1-phosphate uridyl transferase and its association with ovarian cancer and endometriosis. *Int J Cancer* 77, 825-827 (1998)
- 55. R.M. Hadfield, S. Manek, S. Nakago, S. Mukherjee, D.E. Weeks, H.J. Mardon, D.H. Barlow and S.H. Kennedy: Absence of a relationship between endometriosis and the N314D polymorphism of galactose-1-phosphate uridyl transferase in a UK population. *Mol Hum Reprod* 5, 990-993 (1999)
- 56. D.W. Cramer, M.D. Hornstein, W.G. Ng and R.L. Barbieri: Endometriosis associated with the N314D mutation of galactose-1-phosphate uridyl transferase (GALT). *Mol Hum Reprod* 2, 149-152 (1996)
- 57. C. He, Y. Song, X. He, W. Zhang and L. Liao: No association of endometriosis with galactose-1-phosphate uridyl transferase mutations in a Chinese population. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 47, 307-309 (2006)
- 58. S.E. Hur, J.Y. Lee, H.S. Moon and H.W. Chung: Polymorphisms of the genes encoding the GSTM1, GSTT1 and GSTP1 in Korean women: no association with endometriosis. Mol Hum Reprod. 11, 15-19 (2005)
- 59. Y.Y. Hsieh, C.C. Chang, F.J. Tsai, C.C. Lin, J.M. Chen and C.H. Tsai: Glutathione S-transferase M1*null genotype but not myeloperoxidase promoter G-463A polymorphism is associated with higher susceptibility to endometriosis. *Mol Hum Reprod* 10, 713-717 (2004)
- 60. M. Morizane, S. Yoshida, S. Nakago, S. Hamana, T. Maruo and S. Kennedy: No association of endometriosis with glutathione S-transferase M1 and T1 null mutations in a Japanese population. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 11, 118-121 (2004)
- 61. S.W. Baxter, E.J. Thomas and I.G. Campbell: GSTM1 null polymorphism and susceptibility to endometriosis and ovarian cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 22, 63-65 (2001)
- 62. J. Lin, X. Zhang, Y. Qian, Y. Ye, Y. Shi, K. Xu and J. Xu: Glutathione S-transferase M1 and T1 genotypes and endometriosis risk: a case-controlled study. *Chin Med J (Engl)* 116, 777-780 (2003)
- 63. H. Baranova, M. Canis, T. Ivaschenko, E. Albuisson, R. Bothorishvilli, V. Baranov, P. Malet and M.A. Bruhat: Possible involvement of arylamine N-acetyltransferase 2, glutathione S-transferases M1 and T1 genes in the development of endometriosis. *Mol Hum Reprod* 5, 636-641 (1999)
- 64. D. Ertunc, M. Aban, E.C. Tok, L. Tamer, M. Arslan and S. Dilek: Glutathione-S-transferase P1 gene polymorphism and susceptibility to endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 20, 2157-2161 (2005)
- 65. P. Vigano, M. Infantino, D. Lattuada, R. Lauletta, E. Ponti, S. Somigliana, M. Vignali and A.M. Di Blasio:

- Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) gene polymorphisms in endometriosis. *Mol Hum Reprod* 9, 47-52 (2003)
- 66. M. Yamashita, S. Yoshida, S. Kennedy, N. Ohara, S. Motoyama and T. Maruo: Association study of endometriosis and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) gene polymorphisms in a Japanese population. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 12, 267-271 (2005)
- 67. J. Kitawaki, M. Kiyomizu, H. Obayashi, M. Ohta, H. Ishihara, G. Hasegawa, N. Nakamura, T. Yoshikawa and H. Honjo: Synergistic effect of interleukin-6 promoter (IL6-634C/G) and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1469K/E) gene polymorphisms on the risk of endometriosis in Japanese women. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 56, 267-274 (2006)
- 68. J. Kitawaki, H. Koshiba, Y. Kitaoka, M. Teramoto, G. Hasegawa, N. Nakamura, T. Yoshikawa, M. Ohta, H. Obayashi and H. Honjo: Interferon-gamma gene dinucleotide (CA) repeat and interleukin-4 promoter region (-590C/T) polymorphisms in Japanese patients with endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 19, 1765-1769 (2004)
- 69. F. Wieser, L. Hefler, C. Tempfer, U. Vlach, C. Schneeberger, J. Huber and R. Wenzl: Polymorphism of the interleukin-1beta gene and endometriosis. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 10, 172-175 (2003)
- 70. Y.Y. Hsieh, C.C. Chang, F.J. Tsai, J.Y. Wu, Y.R. Shi, H.D. Tsai and C.H. Tsai: Polymorphisms for interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 beta)-511 promoter, IL-1 beta exon 5, and IL-1 receptor antagonist: nonassociation with endometriosis. *Assist Reprod Genet* 18, 506-511 (2001)
- 71. Y.Y. Hsieh, C.C. Chang, F.J. Tsai, Y. Hsu, H.D. Tsai and C.H. Tsai: Polymorphisms for interleukin-4 (IL-4) -590 promoter, IL-4 intron3, and tumor necrosis factor alpha -308 promoter: non-association with endometriosis. *Clin Lab Anal* 16, 121-126 (2002)
- 72. M. Bhanoori, K.A. Babu, M. Deenadayal, S. Kennedy and S. Shivaji S: The interleukin-6 -174G/C promoter polymorphism is not associated with endometriosis in South Indian women. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 12, 365-369 (2005)
- 73. F. Wieser, G. Fabjani, C. Tempfer, C. Schneeberger, M. Sator, J. Huber and R. Wenzl: Analysis of an interleukin-6 gene promoter polymorphism in women with endometriosis by pyrosequencing. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 10, 32-36 (2003)
- 74. J. Kitawaki, H. Obayashi, M. Ohta, N. Kado, H. Ishihara, H. Koshiba, I. Kusuki, K. Tsukamoto, G. Hasegawa, N. Nakamura, T. Yoshikawa and H. Honjo: Genetic contribution of the interleukin-10 promoter polymorphism in endometriosis susceptibility. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 47, 12-18 (2002)
- 75. Y.Y. Hsieh, C.C. Chang, F.J. Tsai, Y. C.C. Lin, C.T. Tai and H. Ho: Association of an A allele for interleukin-10-627 gene promoter polymorphism with higher susceptibility to endometriosis. *J Reprod Med* 48, 735-738 (2003)
- 76. K. Shan, W. Ying, Z. Jian-Hui, G. Wei, W. Na and L. Yan: The function of the SNP in the MMP1 and MMP3 promoter in susceptibility to endometriosis in China. *Mol Hum Reprod* 11, 423-427 (2005)
- 77. M.M. Ferrari, M.L. Biondi, G. Rossi, B. Grijuela, S. Gaita, G. Perugino and P. Vigano: Analysis of two

- polymorphisms in the promoter region of matrix metalloproteinase 1 and 3 genes in women with endometriosis. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 85, 212-217 (2006)
- 78. M. Deguchi, S. Yoshida, S. Kennedy, N. Ohara, S. Motoyama and T. Maruo: Lack of association between endometriosis and N-acetyl transferase 1 (NAT1) and 2 (NAT2) polymorphisms in a Japanese population. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 12, 208-213 (2005)
- 79. K.A. Babu, K.L. Rao, N.G. Reddy, M.K. Kanakavalli, K.T. Zondervan, M. Deenadayal, S. Singh, S. Shivaji and S. Kennedy: N-acetyl transferase 2 polymorphism and advanced stages of endometriosis in South Indian women. *Reprod Biomed Online* 9, 533-540 (2004)
- 80. S. Nakago, R.M. Hadfield, K.T. Zondervan, H. Mardon, S. Manek, D.E. Weeks, D. Barlow and S. Kennedy: Association between endometriosis and N-acetyl transferase 2 polymorphisms in a UK population. *Mol Hum Reprod* 7, 1079-1083 (2001)
- 81. S. Dogan, F. Machicao, D. Wallwiener, H.U. Haering, K. Diedrich and D. Hornung: Association of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma 2 Pro-12-Ala polymorphism with endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 81, 1411-1413 (2004)
- 82. M. Kiyomizu, J. Kitawaki, H. Obayashi, M. Ohta, H. Koshiba, H. Ishihara and H. Honjo: Association of two polymorphisms in the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma gene with adenomyosis, endometriosis, and leiomyomata in Japanese women. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 13, 372-377 (2006)
- 83. D. Lattuada, E. Somigliana, P. Vigano, M. Candiani, G. Pardi and A.M. Di Blasio: Genetics of endometriosis: a role for the progesterone receptor gene polymorphism PROGINS? *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 61, 190-194 (2004)
- 84. F. Wieser, C. Schneeberger, D. Tong, C. Tempfer, J.C. Huber and R. Wenzl: PROGINS receptor gene polymorphism is associated with endometriosis *Fertil Steril* 77, 309-312 (2002)
- 85. A. Berchuck, J.M. Schildkraut, R.M. Wenham, B. Calingaert, S. Ali, A. Henriott, S. Halabi, G.C. Rodriguez, D. Gertig, D.M. Purdie, L. Kelemen, A.B. Spurdle, J. Marks and G. Chenevix-Trench: Progesterone receptor promoter +331A polymorphism is associated with a reduced risk of endometrioid and clear cell ovarian cancers. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 13, 2141-2147 (2004)
- 86. K.J. van Kaam, A. Romano, J.P. Schouten, G.A. Dunselman and P.G. Groothuis PG. Progesterone receptor polymorphism +331G/A is associated with a decreased risk of deep infiltrating endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* Aug 18, (2006)
- 87. G. Antinolo, R.M. Fernandez, J.A. Noval, J.C. Garcia-Lozano, S. Borrego, I. Marcos and J.L. Molini. Evaluation of germline sequence variants within the promoter region of RANTES gene in a cohort of women with endometriosis from Spain. *Mol Hum Reprod* 9, 491-495 (2003)
- 88. M. Teramoto, J. Kitawaki, H. Koshiba, Y. Kitaoka, H. Obayashi, G. Hasegawa, N. Nakamura, T. Yoshikawa, M. Matsushita, E. Maruya, H. Saji, M. Ohta and H. Honjo: Genetic contribution of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha gene promoter (-1031, -863 and -857) and TNF receptor 2 gene polymorphisms in endometriosis susceptibility. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 51, 352-357 (2004)

- 89. T. Asghar, S. Yoshida, S. Kennedy, K. Negoro, W. Zhuo, S. Hamana, S. Motoyama, S. Nakago, D. Barlow and T. Maruo: The tumor necrosis factor-alpha promoter -1031C polymorphism is associated with decreased risk of endometriosis in a Japanese population. *Hum Reprod* 19, 2509-2514 (2004)
- 90. F. Wieser, G. Fabjani, C. Tempfer, C. Schneeberger, R. Zeillinger, J.C. Huber and R. Wenzl: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotor polymorphisms and endometriosis. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 9, 313-318 (2002)
- 91. D. Lattuada, P. Viganò, E. Somigliana, A. Abbiati, M. Candiani and A.M Di Blasio: Analysis of the codon 72 polymorphism of the TP53 gene in patients with endometriosis. *Mol Hum Reprod* 10, 651-654 (2004)
- 92. Y.Y. Hsieh and C.S. Lin: P53 codon 11, 72, and 248 gene polymorphisms in endometriosis. *Int J Biol Sci* 2, 188-193 (2006)
- 93. S. Omori, S. Yoshida, S.H. Kennedy, K. Negoro, S. Hamana, D.H. Barlow and T Maruo: Polymorphism at codon 72 of the p53 gene is not associated with endometriosis in a Japanese population. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 11, 232-236 (2004)
- 94. S.H. Kim, Y.M. Choi, S.H. Choung, J.K. Jun, J.G. Kim and S.Y. Moon: Vascular endothelial growth factor gene +405 C/G polymorphism is associated with susceptibility to advanced stage endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 20, 2904-2908 (2005)
- 95. M. Bhanoori, K. Arvind Babu, N.G. Pavankumar Reddy, K. Lakshmi Rao, K. Zondervan, M. Deenadayal, S. Kennedy and S. Shivaji: The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) +405G>C 5'-untranslated region polymorphism and increased risk of endometriosis in South Indian women: a case control study. *Hum Reprod* 20, 1844-1849 (2005)
- 96. Y.Y. Hsieh, C.C. Chang, F.J. Tsai, L.S. Yeh, C.C. Lin and C.T. Peng: T allele for VEGF gene-460 polymorphism at the 5'-untranslated region: association with a higher susceptibility to endometriosis. *J Reprod Med* 49, 468-472 (2004)

Key Words: Endometriosis, Genetics, Linkage Studies, Association Studies, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr. P. Vigano', Molecular Biology Laboratory, Istituto Auxologico Italiano, Via Zucchi 18, Cusano Milanino, Milano, Italy, Tel: 3902619112576, Fax: 3902619113033, E-mail: paola.vigano@unimi.it

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol12.htm